
Agenda - Climate Change, Environment and Rural 
Affairs Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 3 - Senedd
Meeting date: 24 October 2019
Meeting time: 09.20

For further information contact:
Marc Wyn Jones
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6363 
SeneddCCERA@assembly.wales

------

Pre-meeting - PRIVATE  (09.20-09.30) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 
interest
(09.30)  

2 Draft National Development Framework 2020-2040 - evidence 
session 1
(09.30-10.45) (Pages 1 - 11) 
Dr Roisin Willmott OBE - Director, Royal Town Planning Institute Cymru 
Dr Neil Harris - Senior Lecturer, School of Geography and Planning, Cardiff 
University

Attached Documents: 
Briefing paper
Paper - Royal Town Planning Institute Cymru
Paper - Cardiff University

Break (10.45 - 10.55) 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



3 Draft National Development Framework - evidence session 2
(10.55-12.10) (Pages 12 - 27) 
Victoria Robinson, Vice Chair - Planning Officers Society Wales (POSW), and, 
Operational Manager for Planning and Building Control – Vale of Glamorgan 
Council
Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager - Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority, and, member of Planning Officers Society Wales (POSW)

Attached Documents: 
Paper - Victoria Robinson

4 Papers to note:

4.1 Correspondence from the Chair of the Finance Committee on the financial 
implications of the Wild Animals and Circuses (Wales) Bill

(Pages 28 - 30) 

Attached Documents: 
Letter

4.2 Correspondence from Professor Stephen Harris - Wild Animals and Circuses 
(Wales) Bill

(Pages 31 - 32) 

Attached Documents: 
Letter

4.3 Correspondence between the Chair and Thomas Chipperfield - Wild Animals 
and Circuses (Wales) Bill

(Pages 33 - 34) 

Attached Documents: 
Letter from Thomas Chipperfield to the Chair
Letter from the Chair to Thomas Chipperfield



5 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (vi) to resolve to exclude the 
public from item 6 of today's meeting

 

PRIVATE 12.10 - 12.30 

6 Consideration of evidence received under items 2 and 3
 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



1 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DATE 2019 
 
         4th October 2019 
e-mail response sent to: SeneddCCERA@Assembly.Wales  
 

Dear Sir/Madam 

Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee Scrutiny of the Draft 
National Development Framework (NDF) 

The Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) is the largest professional institute for planners in 
Europe, representing some 25,000 spatial planners. RTPI Cymru represents the RTPI in 
Wales, with 1,100 members. The Institute seeks to advance the science and art of spatial 
planning for the benefit of the public. As well as promoting spatial planning, the RTPI 
develops and shapes policy affecting the built environment, works to raise professional 
standards and supports members through continuous education, training and development. 

RTPI Cymru welcomes the publication of the draft National Development Framework (NDF) 
and support its intentions.  RTPI Cymru has long called for a spatial plan to enable Wales to 
make effective decisions on important national issues relating to housing, climate change, 
energy generation, the economy etc. and a spatial framework for investment, other 
government policy, Strategic Development Plans (SDPs) and Local Development Plans 
(LDPs). 

We hope the NDF will provide the context and evidence for taking difficult national decisions 
and inform long-term investment goals, which will enable infrastructure decisions to be better 
integrated to support existing and new development while taking into account climate 
change mitigation, adaptation and sustainable outcomes. 

We recognise the challenge of having to achieve a sustainable pattern of development for 
the longer term, with the 20-year time constraint of the plan, while taking into account the 
climate change agenda that requires us to look beyond the 20-year horizon and develop 
policies to achieve a longer-term objective for an uncertain future.  

However, we feel an opportunity to push boundaries in the longer term planning for Wales 
and in taking action against climate change has not been fully grasped. The draft NDF is a 
welcome start, showing there is a clear intent to tackle climate change, but this needs to be 

Royal Town Planning Institute 
Cymru (RTPI Cymru) 
Studio 107 
Creative Quarter 
8a Morgan Arcade 
Cardiff 
CF10 1AF 
Tel +44 (0)20 7929 8197 
email walespolicy@rtpi.org.uk  
www.rtpi.org.uk/wales 

Pack Page 6

mailto:SeneddCCERA@Assembly.Wales


2 
 

backed up with stronger evidence and detail.  In order to start to address the issues 
surrounding climate change, RTPI Cymru believes that we need a behavioural change 
across the industry in the way that we approach planning and developing the places we live, 
work and enjoy.  The NDF is the document which can guide that change and we urge Welsh 
Government to be bolder in its approach to long term planning for Wales.  

It is vital that the NDF explicitly links to the Wales Infrastructure Investment Plan and other 
Government policy which have spatial implications. 

A table setting out the links and relationships between the relevant plans, such as Strategic 
Development Plans (SDPs) and Local Development Plans (LDPs), would provide clarity to 
all stakeholders and help engage those important sectors and stakeholders that sit outside 
of planning.  It is also therefore important that all plans, strategies, policy and guidance are 
kept updated.  Many strategies and guidance documents such as the Wales Transport 
Strategy, are not currently up to date. 

While we support Welsh Government’s work on decarbonisation, RTPI Cymru believes that 
we need to look beyond where people live and carbon emissions and also address the wider 
issues of climate change.  The focus on decarbonisation in the NDF feels too narrow, for 
example the NDF does not fully tackle flood risk and coastal change given there will be a 
significant impact on some settlements from future rising sea levels. 

Spatial Strategy 

The draft NDF is described as a spatial plan but it is only spatial for some topics, such as 
growth areas, onshore wind and solar, district heat networks etc.  Yet other potentially 
spatial policies (e.g. Mobile Action Zones, biodiversity enhancement, national forests etc.) it 
appears to set aside for a later date, stating the Welsh Government “will identify” areas/sites.  

There is inconsistency in the detail throughout the document.  While there appears a lack of 
detail and assessment on many of the topics, others are incredibly detailed, such as the 
assessment of onshore wind and solar.  RTPI Cymru supports greater detail in the final NDF 
and would encourage a spatially specific approach across the NDF, as that detailed for 
renewable energy generation. 

It is with some concern that we note that the map at page 25 focuses primarily on what 
already exists.  We question if it is forward looking enough and if it provides the solutions 
needed at this level for the next 20 years.  The NDF recognises connectivity issues (road 
and rail) in Wales but does not suggest any specific proposals for improvements.  For a 20-
year plan, the NDF should be more ambitious.  The map and text could go further to 
highlight where transport development could emerge.   

It is disappointing that the NDF simply seeks to improve connectivity between south 
Wales/south west England and north Wales/north east England.  The long-term plan should 
set a strong and clear vision for improving the notoriously poor links between north and 
south Wales.  We question the need for a criteria-based policy for transport (roads, railways, 
airports) which are all potentially DNS projects. 

The NDF does not address the important issue of the marine and land based planning 
systems at the coast.  Particularly important to be considered in view of climate change. 

Pack Page 7



3 
 

We welcome that the NDF recognises that there are spatial issues in England that require a 
response and long term plan from Wales. A challenging question is whether greenbelts, as 
proposed by the NDF, are a helpful approach to reflect the border with England.  We note 
that greenbelts and growth from England affects Wales.  For example growth in Bristol and 
the approach to managing this, along with the scrapping of tolls on the Severn crossings all 
have a significant impact on South East Wales in terms of housing, transport and congestion 
issues. 

 

If you require further assistance, please contact RTPI Cymru on 020 7929 8197 or e-mail 
Roisin Willmott at walespolicy@rtpi.org.uk  

 

Yours sincerely, 

 
Dr Roisin Willmott OBE FRTPI 
Director 
RTPI Cymru 

Pack Page 8

mailto:walespolicy@rtpi.org.uk


1 
 

 

 

Written submission by Neil Harris in advance of evidence session on the National Development 

Framework for the Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to present evidence to the Committee. This is a short written 

submission summarising my views on the consultation version of the Welsh Government’s National 

Development Framework (NDF). 

I very much welcome the introduction of the NDF. It will be an important replacement for the Wales 

Spatial Plan and will provide a valuable means of articulating some of the key spatial challenges facing 

Wales. The Wales Spatial Plan was an interesting and innovative document and it was disappointing 

to see the significant loss of political support and momentum following the second version of the 

Wales Spatial Plan. The NDF is a different document – in terms of status and a closer focus on land use 

and development – yet it fulfils some similar functions. 

The Welsh Government is commended for producing the NDF in multiple formats for different 

audiences, including the easy read version and the young people’s version. 

It is clear that the NDF is performing several different roles. These include identifying some of the 

spatial patterns and trends affecting Wales in the next two decades, and translating into the planning 

system some of the wider policies of the Welsh Government. The consultation version of the NDF 

certainly tries to address some of the criticisms made of the Wales Spatial Plan by setting out clearer 

policies on development, and providing a clearer steer for other scales of the development plan 

framework. The NDF is particularly focused on setting the scene and outlining the expectations for 

Strategic Development Plans. The NDF operates broadly within a subsidiarity principle, and so only 

deals with key planning and development issues of national importance. 

The relationship of the NDF to Planning Policy Wales is critical. Chapter 2 addresses ‘challenges and 

opportunities’, yet there is very little spatial exploration or representation of these challenges and 

opportunities as they affect different parts of Wales. This chapter therefore largely echoes text either 

found within or better placed in Planning Policy Wales. I had anticipated more mapping of how these 

challenges and opportunities affected different parts of Wales – e.g. where is population changing 

significantly, which places are most impacted on by an ageing society, where are natural landscapes 

under pressure, which are the ecosystems that we depend on, where are inequalities between places 

most acute, etc? I had expected this section and part of the NDF to add far more value and spatial 

understanding to planning and development issues across Wales. This is key to adding value that goes 

beyond the themes and issues already addressed in Planning Policy Wales.  

The NDF states in chapter 3 a series of ‘outcomes’. It is positive that the NDF is focused on the 

outcomes it will help deliver. This again will help it to address some of the criticism made of the 

Pack Page 9



2 
 

predecessor Wales Spatial Plan. These outcomes are nevertheless sometimes expressed very 

generally, and it will be difficult to always monitor progress towards these outcomes.  

Chapter 4 of the NDF sets out strategic and spatial choices. The NDF essentially establishes a spatial 

framework for the concentration of growth in identified urban areas – cities and large towns – and 

sustainable growth to sustain settlements and meet local needs in other locations as a way of 

providing stability. Growth in rural areas and smaller settlements will be ‘appropriate’ or 

‘proportionate’ to meet the needs of those living there. In summary, the strategy is one of urban-

focused growth and stability elsewhere. 

The NDF includes a spatial strategy map. This very generally identifies ‘international connections’, but 

does not provide any sense of where these places connect to. Similarly, there is very general indication 

of cross-border linkages with adjacent areas of England, yet without any sense of what these are or 

how they are important. The strategy map feels very ‘static’ and a representation of existing 

features, rather than a forward-facing strategy for the next 20 years.  

Various stakeholders have called for ‘more detail’ to be provided in the NDF. There are good reasons 

for keeping the NDF concise and focused on key issues of national significance. There is a case for 

resisting calls for much more detail in the NDF. There is also scope for reducing the content of the NDF 

where material is well-enough covered in Planning Policy Wales and little value is added through the 

text of the NDF. There are nevertheless good reasons for calling for more specificity on key issues. 

For example, the reference to towns and cities ‘with good public transport links’ as a focus for growth 

could be refined to establish what this means, perhaps some criteria established, and indeed these 

settlements could then be identified. Similarly, where in Wales has there already been significant 

public sector investment, and where is this planned in future? There is a commitment to explore public 

sector land holdings, yet a well-developed NDF would at least be able to map such landholdings across 

Wales to support a spatial strategy. The NDF refers to strategic green infrastructure, but does not map 

this, despite referring to maps produced by Natural Resources Wales. These are all missed 

opportunities for the NDF to be more specific and to be more spatial. A similar theme is the reference 

to ecological networks that ‘will be identified’. These are critical areas for a NDF to explore and 

represent and should feature within the NDF itself.  The same is true for a proposal for a National 

Forest, which is nowhere identified within the strategy map. Stakeholders will be concerned that this 

is only ‘an idea’ at an early stage, and may be premature for inclusion in the NDF if nothing can be said 

spatially about its broad location. 

The NDF provides more detail for large-scale wind and solar renewable energy developments than for 

any other thematic area or sector. This leads to a sense of uneven consideration of different topics 

within the NDF.  

Chapter 5 addresses the regions of Wales. Some 25% or so of the NDF is dedicated to steering the 

preparation of Strategic Development Plans for three identified regions. This appears to me to be one 

of the more important functions of the NDF as presented. I would argue that there is a stronger focus 

in the NDF on steering the three regions and their SDPs than there is on national-scale spatial 

planning and development issues. Work on SDPs is only just starting and is in the very early stages of 

scoping out how and when they will be prepared. The NDF is nevertheless very much dependent on 

SDPs for effect and implementation.  

The region of Mid and South West Wales is extensive and does not properly reflect some of the 

functionality of regions for planning and development purposes in Wales. This is due to the selection 

of existing economic regions on which to base a National Development Framework. This is unusual in 

Pack Page 10



3 
 

a NDF in the context of the declaration of Climate Emergency, given that it appears to prioritise 

economic considerations over any other thematic area. There is administrative expediency in using 

economic regions in the NDF, yet the risk is that the regions do not make sense for the very wide 

range of issues that collectively come together for planning and development purposes.  

There is some inconsistency in how some policies for the regions of the NDF are expressed. For 

example, there is a policy stating Welsh Government support for ‘identifying and establishing’ Green 

Belts in north Wales. This seems to steer work on SDPs and leaves open the exploration of whether to 

establish a Green Belt. The explanatory text supporting the policy then appears to go further and state 

that ‘SDPs must identify a Green Belt’. This working relationship between the NDF and SDPs needs 

some further exploration. Does the NDF propose a Green Belt and the SDP then only needs to define 

its boundaries? Or will the body responsible for the SDP be able to explore whether a Green Belt is an 

appropriate policy tool for inclusion in the SDP? 

The NDF is a statutory development plan. I would have expected a plan of this kind to include or set 

out some form of monitoring framework as part of the framework itself. This appears to be absent 

from the consultation version of the NDF. 

In summary, I welcome the publication of the draft of the NDF and the opportunity to comment on it, 

and my view is that the consultation version of the NDF needs in the process of revision: 

 To provide a clearer spatial portrait of how the challenges and opportunities identified in 

chapter 2 play out across Wales as a whole, including the inequalities that exist between the 

different parts of Wales. This would involve selected mapping of existing and future patterns 

and trends. 

 To be more specific about the outcomes to be achieved by the NDF, so that these are specific 

and measurable. 

 To include a more refined spatial strategy map. 

 To include more specific material to support some of its proposals, including strategic 

identification of opportunities for a national forest, identification of strategic public land 

holdings etc. 

 To clarify the relationship between certain policies in the NDF – especially those on Green 

belts – and the work to be carried out in preparing SDPs.  

 To include a section on the monitoring framework to be used for evaluating the NDF. 

 

 

Neil Harris 

School of Geography and Planning, Cardiff University – October 2019 

Pack Page 11



Draft National Development Framework Response from Victoria Robinson, Vice Chair – Planning 

Officers Society for Wales (POSW)

1. NDF Outcomes (chapter 3)

The NDF has proposed 11 Outcomes as an ambition of where we want to be in 20 years’ time.

• Overall, to what extent do you agree or disagree the 11 Outcomes are a realistic vision for the 

NDF?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

• To what extent do you agree with the 11 Outcomes as ambitions for the NDF?

Agree with all 
of them

Agree with 
most of them

Agree with 
some of them

Agree with 
none of them Don’t know No opinion

X

• If you disagree with any of the 11 Outcomes, please tell us why:

I think the outcomes are mostly laudable aims but question their deliverability, particularly when 

they are in part contradictory.  For example Outcomes 2, 3, 5, 6, and 8 would support growth 

whilst Outcomes 9, 10 and 11 seek to protect and enhance natural resources and the 

environment. A conflicting set of objectives cannot deliver sustainable development.  

As written the objectives seek economic development and increased affordable housing whilst 

reclaiming lost biodiversity and protecting greenfield land. The NDF is silent on how these 

conflicts are to be resolved. To ensure that the economic and social elements of sustainable 

development are delivered through land use planning, it is essential to balance all sustainability 

objectives.

The NDF needs to be realistic as well as ambitious if it is going to be a meaningful plan.

Outcome 5 – “A Wales where people live and work in towns and cities which are a focus and 

springboard for sustainable growth”. Not everyone in Wales can (or want to) live and work in 

towns and cities. We recognise that the NDF seeks to focus growth in sustainable places and 

concentrate development in towns and cities but this is not deliverable or desirable for the whole 

of Wales or for all the people of Wales, many of whom live and work sustainably outside towns 

Pack Page 12

Agenda Item 3



and cities. Such an outcome is therefore grossly over-simplistic and gives the impression it is only 

a plan for the urban parts of Wales.

2. Spatial Strategy (policies 1 - 4)

The NDF spatial strategy is a guiding framework for where large-scale change and nationally 

important developments will be focused over the next 20 years.

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the spatial strategy and key principles for 

development in…

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Don’t 
know

No 
opinion

Urban 
areas
(Policies 1, 
2 & 3)

x

Rural areas 
(Policy 4) x

• If you have any comments on the spatial strategy or key principles for development in urban and 

rural areas, please tell us:

The spatial strategy recognises a “National Growth Area” covering most of South East Wales, 

which I welcome given the growth agenda planned and committed to through the Cardiff Capital 

Region City Deal.  

Growth in existing settlements:

Policies 1, 2 and 3 seek to concentrate growth within towns and cities, highlighting that large-

scale public service facilities (such as universities and colleges, hospitals and public sector 

organisation buildings) should be located in town and city centres (Policy 2 refers). The NDF needs 

to clarify the definition of ‘town and city centres’. 

Whilst this is welcomed in principle, it is unclear whether the NDF has been informed by any 

urban capacity studies to determine whether there are suitable sites available for such facilities 

within town/city centres across Wales. Is the focus on existing town/city centres and urban areas 

Pack Page 13



realistic and deliverable in the absence of urban capacity studies to support it? The number of 

vacant / available sites (particularly brownfield sites) within existing settlements is limited. Many 

of these sites have been developed in recent years for housing and they are a finite resource. An 

over-reliance on growth within existing settlements could stifle growth within the “National 

Growth Areas” and undermine the delivery of the NDF and its outcomes.

Furthermore, development of large-scale public service facilities within town and city centres 

should not be at the exclusion of other suitable sites. It would be more appropriate to direct large-

scale public service facilities to locations that are easily accessible by a range of modes of 

sustainable transport and close to where users live or work, or where other complementary uses 

are nearby.  Policy 2 as worded is currently too restrictive and would preclude very suitable sites 

not in town/city centres. 

Furthermore, focussing development within existing urban settlements can result in town 

cramming and increased pressure and loss of open space, as well as significant further pressure on 

infrastructure like transport, schools, medical facilities etc. which is already a major concern for 

our communities. 

The policy should acknowledge that development on the periphery of settlements can also deliver 

sustainable development, especially where there are current transport routes or the possibility of 

new routes being opened up. The acknowledgement that some development may need to take 

place on the edges of settlements and on greenfield land will ensure that the most sustainable 

options for accommodating growth can be pursued.

The planning system should deliver sustainable development in locations that represent the best 

compromise between the competing sustainability objectives and this is what the NDF should be 

stating rather than dictating where such developments should only be located. 

Potential for new sustainable settlements:

The NDF Strategy appears to dismiss the potential for sustainable new settlements. However, it is 

quite feasible that the most sustainable form of development could be a new settlement outside 

existing settlements rather than increasing development in settlements where infrastructure and 

quality of life are already challenged.  This policy does not allow this form of development and as 

such could perpetuate less sustainable development.

Pack Page 14



The commentary on new settlements is too prescriptive in the NDF where it states: “Choosing to 

develop new towns and enabling sprawling greenfield development would be to ignore the 

untapped potential of places which already have town centres, universities and colleges, public 

transport infrastructure and a good range of public services. It would also squander key assets in 

the form of productive countryside and natural resources” (page 22 refers). This would appear to 

rule out proposals for new settlements despite Planning Policy Wales (PPW) setting out the 

exceptional circumstances where they may be appropriate. In contrast the NDF should reflect the 

policy advice in PPW and recognise there may be a role for new settlements if they create more 

sustainable places than urban sprawl at the edge of existing settlements. Such matters should be 

given detailed consideration as part of SDP and LDP strategies. We feel the NDF has ignored the 

opportunity that new settlements could have in delivering sustainable places to meet the needs of 

our communities and future generations, particularly in South East Wales and we feel the NDF 

should make a positive statement about how such opportunities should be explored in the SDP 

and LDPs to follow.

 

Publicly owned land:

Policy 3 emphasises the importance of publicly owned land in delivering development including 

for mixed use and affordable housing.  Whilst this is welcomed in principle, it is considered that 

there is not a significant amount of Council owned land available in Wales for development, 

particularly in town centre locations.

Many Local Authorities are already identifying available land to deliver Affordable Housing, 

schools, infrastructure improvements and other corporate projects.  However, Local Authorities 

also use the receipts from land disposal to deliver other strategic objectives such as the 21st 

Century schools programme. Welsh Government need to support Council’s financially to deliver 

this agenda if land receipts are going to be reduced to support other policy initiatives. 

Supporting rural communities:

Policy 4 supports ‘appropriate proportionate growth in rural towns and villages’ but recognises 

this is best planned at regional and local levels.  This is welcomed and should be based on 

evidence prepared at LDP level.

Comments on the Spatial Strategy Map:

Pack Page 15



The following concerns about the spatial strategy map are raised:

• It is too cluttered and therefore difficult to read / understand. 
• There are a number of regional growth areas identified, but these areas are not 

labelled and they are not identified on the later regional maps, unless they are 
the ‘Centres for Regional Growth’ in which case why are none of the South 
East Wales shown on the all Wales ‘Spatial Strategy’ map?

• It is unclear which places the intra-urban connectivity relate to and such 
connectivity is too simplistic – it ignores east-west connectivity in South East 
Wales, particularly the M4 corridor.

• The all Wales Spatial Strategy map on page 25 is not consistent with the regional 
maps at pages 50, 57 and 63, which is confusing and could lead to challenge 
when trying to demonstrate conformity in lower tier plans. 

• Existing regional centres should be identified where they have an important 
functional role in providing a hub for employment and public services.

•

3. Affordable Housing (policy 5)

The NDF sets out the approach for providing affordable housing, encouraging local authorities, social 

landlords, and small and medium-sized construction and building enterprises to build more homes.

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the approach to increasing affordable housing?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

• If you disagree, in what other ways can the NDF approach the delivery of affordable housing?

The statistical release for the Estimates of Housing Need provides caveats that they are estimates 

based on a given set of assumptions, aimed at forming a basis for policy decisions. The estimates 

of need “should not be used as housing targets” and therefore Policy 5 should be reworded to 

state that regional Estimates of Housing Need should form part of the evidence base for 

affordable housing targets, rather than basing SDP targets entirely upon these estimates. Unless 

this is clarified there is a concern that the target of 47% should be affordable might dictate that 

similar targets are included within the SDP/LDP.  This may not be deliverable, desirable nor 

appropriate.  

I support all initiatives aimed at increasing the supply of Affordable Housing and it is clear that 

more needs to be done to increase the supply of Affordable Housing. Local Authorities are 

responding to this challenge with ambitious programmes of Council house building. However, 

there are concerns that across Wales the identified need for affordable housing is not close to 

Pack Page 16



being met. 

Whilst Affordable Housing supply through public sector, RSL, Council housing and support for SME 

builders is a laudable ambition, the NDF appears to be somewhat dismissive of that the role the 

private sector, in particular volume house-builders, have in delivering Affordable Housing, which 

has been significant in the last 20 years.  In the South East region the private sector has been 

responsible for delivering a significant number of affordable homes through section 106 

agreements on market-led developments.

The role of the private sector in delivering Affordable Housing will be largely influenced by market 

forces such as development viability, land/build costs, developer risk and return on investment 

which varies across Wales.  In this regard, it is still important to allocate land in locations where 

developers want to build and where development viability is strong enough to support a strong 

policy requirement for increased levels of Affordable Housing and other necessary infrastructure. 

In areas with weaker market viability, or significant development cost, public sector intervention 

will be needed to help deliver sites and Welsh Government need to provide the necessary funding 

to support this.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

There is a danger that Welsh Government’s policies on housing will push volume house-builders 

out of Wales, as their representatives have suggested in various forums, and this would 

undermine our ability to meet housing need across a range and mix of house types and at the 

scale necessary to meet the NDF outcomes. 

The NDF must have the same rigorous approach to deliverability as that required of Local Planning 

Authorities when preparing their Strategic and Local Development Plans, which must be in 

conformity with the NDF.  This is particularly important to ensure that the NDF provides an 

effective framework for delivering enough affordable housing to meet the high level of need 

identified. 

Finally, it should be recognised through the NDF, PPW and in subsequent SDPs and LDPs that in 

order to make quality places with cohesive communities where people want to live, new housing 

developments need to deliver a mix of house type and tenures. It would be inappropriate to plan 

for large scale housing developments where the proportion of affordable housing is too large and 

fails to create a sustainable mixed community. Delivering the identified need of 47% affordable 

Pack Page 17



housing on large scale sites is unlikely to be desirable as it could not be ‘pepper-potted’ 

appropriately or enable sustainable mixed communities to be created. Welsh Government and 

Local Authorities will need to work with housing providers to ensure this need an be met in a 

range of appropriate ways to deliver sustainable development. 

4. Mobile Action Zones (policy 6)

• To what extent do you agree or disagree the identification of mobile action zones will be effective 

in encouraging better mobile coverage?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

• If you disagree, in what other ways can the NDF improve mobile phone coverage in the areas 

which currently have limited access?

5. Low Emission Vehicles (policy 7)

• To what extent do you agree or disagree that policy 7 will enable and encourage the roll-out of 

charging infrastructure for ultra-low emission vehicles?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

• If you disagree, in what other ways can the NDF enable and encourage the roll-out of charging 

infrastructure for ultra-low emission vehicles?

6. Green Infrastructure (policies 8 & 9)

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the approach to maintaining and enhancing 

biodiversity and ecological networks?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

Policy 9 sets out WG’s commitment to developing a ‘National Forest’ but does not explain how 

Welsh Government will identify delivery sites and mechanisms to achieve this aim.  We are 

Pack Page 18



supportive of this initiative but would like more information from Welsh Government on how it 

will increase woodland cover in Wales by 2000 hectares/annum from 2020 (i.e. next year).

Such proposals should be planned for the long-term to protect our environmental assets now and 

for future generations in accordance with the WBFG Act. Further consideration should be given to 

the regulatory framework protecting trees as an environmental asset. They should be protected 

for their ecological value and not just amenity value.

7. Renewable Energy and District Heat Networks (policies 10-15)

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the NDF’s policies to lower carbon emissions in 

Wales using…

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree

Don’t 
know

No 
opinion

Large scale 
wind and 
solar 
developments

X

District heat 
networks X

• If you disagree with the NDF’s approaches to green infrastructure, renewable energy or district 

heat networks, what alternative approaches should we consider to help Wales to enhance its 

biodiversity and transition to a low carbon economy?

The NDF does not consider of tidal or off shore generation, both of which could make significant 

contributions in terms of energy generation, whilst having less landscape impact than large scale 

onshore developments.

8. The Regions (policy 16)

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the principle of developing Strategic Development 

Plans prepared at a regional scale?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

Pack Page 19



The NDF identifies three overall regions of Wales, each with their own distinct opportunities and 

challenges. These are North Wales, Mid and South West Wales, and South East Wales.

The Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) Cabinet has already signed up to the principle of an SDP for the 

Cardiff Capital Region on 10th June 2019 and a report is currently being considered by all 10 

Councils in the region to seek formal approval to proceed. We hope to submit a proposal for an 

SDP in South East Wales to Welsh Government in due course. 

It is clear that the NDF delegates a significant amount of decision making to the regional plan and 

this is welcomed in the most part, given that the SDP will have a more robust and detailed 

evidence base than is apparent with the NDF. However, concerns below regarding some of the 

more prescriptive policies in the NDF go too far given the lack of evidence to support them. 

9. North Wales (policies 17-22)

We have identified Wrexham and Deeside as the main focus of development in North Wales. A new 

green belt will be created to manage the form of growth. A number of coastal towns are identified 

as having key regional roles, while we support growth and development at Holyhead Port. We will 

support improved transport infrastructure in the region, including a North Wales Metro, and support 

better connectivity with England. North West Wales is recognised as having potential to supply low-

carbon energy on a strategic scale.

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed policies and approach for the North 

Region?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

10. Mid and South West Wales (policies 23-26)

Swansea Bay and Llanelli is the main urban area within the region and is our preferred location for 

growth. We also identify a number of rural and market towns, and the four Haven Towns in 

Pembrokeshire, as being regionally important. The haven Waterway is nationally important and its 

development is supported. We support proposals for a Swansea Bay Metro.

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed policies and approach for the Mid and 

South West Region?

Pack Page 20



Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

11. South East Wales (policies 27-33)

In South East Wales we are proposing to enhance Cardiff’s role as the capital and secure more 

sustainable growth in Newport and the Valleys. A green belt around Newport and eastern parts of 

the region will support the spatial strategy and focus development on existing cities and towns. 

Transport Orientated Development, using locations benefitting from mainline railway and Metro 

stations, will shape the approach to development across the region. There is support for the growth 

and development of Cardiff Airport.

• To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed policies and approach for the South 

East Region?

Strongly 
agree Agree

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly 
disagree Don’t know No 

opinion

X

If you have any comments about the NDF’s approach or policies to the three regions, please tell us. If 

you have any alternatives, please explain them and tell us why you think they would be better.

Issues with the NDF proposals for South East Wales:

Policy 27 on Cardiff is welcomed insofar as it recognises the Capital City’s role as the primary 

national centre and its continued growth needs to be supported. However, the NDF only 

recognises the constraints around Cardiff in to the North and South. It does not address the 

pressures to the West in the Vale of Glamorgan and how these should be addressed.

The recognition of the strategic importance of Newport within the South East Wales region in 

Policy 28 is welcomed. However, it should be noted that significant parts of Newport remain in 

flood zones and there are serious transport constraints, namely the congested M4 and the 

Brynglas Tunnels that need to be addressed for the NDF Strategy to work.  

Policy 29 supports regeneration and investment in the Heads of the Valleys area and this is 

welcomed. However, whilst the sentiment of the policy is generally agreed with there is a lack of 

Pack Page 21



detail in the supporting text on how prosperity is to be increased and social equalities addressed.  

The focus on Cardiff, Newport and the Heads of the Valleys has (whether intentionally or not) left 

important areas in the region outside the NDF’s consideration. Some parts of the region have 

been ignored (i.e. the Vale of Glamorgan and Bridgend) or deliberately restricted (i.e. 

Monmouthshire) without robust evidence to support this approach and considerations of the 

implications for this. The NDF therefore fails to recognise the growth potential of these places and 

pre-determines stagnation versus growth. Decisions about the spatial strategy for the region 

should be taken at a regional and local level, as recognised at various points in the NDF. 

There are opportunities for sustainable development throughout the region and not just in 

Cardiff, Newport and the Heads of the Valleys. To deliver the strategic policies 1 and 4 the NDF 

should recognise the whole of the South East Region as an area where sustainable growth is 

required and the strategy for delivery determined at a regional and local level through the SDP 

and LDPs. 

It is unclear how emphasis on Newport and the Valleys and delivery on brownfield sites has been 

informed by urban capacity studies and development viability appraisals.  I question how 

deliverable this strategy is, and whether local planning authorities will be able to prepare SDPs 

and LDPs that conform with the NDF whilst demonstrating deliverability through their 

independent Examination. It needs to be acknowledged that some form of controlled expansion 

into the countryside on greenfield land will need to occur in the region to meet growth potential, 

and consequently the NDF should have some reference and policy text on acceptable expansions 

into the countryside and potential for sustainable new settlements.

Housing:

The NDF states that “71,200 additional new homes are needed in the region until 2038”.  This 

figure is not particularly aspirational considering the current adopted LDPs in the region have a 

housing requirement in excess of 110,000.  The required 48% of additional homes being 

affordable is very ambitious in this context and the reality is if we’re going to provide enough 

affordable housing we need to build more housing overall. 

 

New Settlements:

There should be a recognition of the potential for new settlements, to be considered in the SDP in 

Pack Page 22



accordance with the policy advice in Planning Policy Wales. Delivering the necessary homes to 

meet need is going to require a range of approaches and the potential for a new settlement needs 

to be explored rather than dismissed as it appears to be at present. 

Green Belt Issues:

One of the most prescriptive policies in the Draft NDF is Policy 30 (Green Belts in South East 

Wales). While the Policy itself requires the identification of green belts through a Strategic 

Development Plan to manage urban form and growth in South East Wales, it refers particularly to 

Newport and the eastern region. The supporting text goes further to state: “The Strategic 

Development Plan must identify a green belt that includes the area to the north of the M4 from 

the Severn Crossings to North Cardiff” (emphasis added) and the illustrative diagram on page 63 

shows a clear indication of the location of that green belt. This is considered to be too 

prescriptive, particularly given the apparent absence of detailed evidence and analysis to support 

this requirement. If it were proposed as part of an SDP or LDP in this way it would not meet the 

tests of soundness without robust evidence to support it – it is not reasonable that the NDF has a 

lower bar for evidence required to support it when it is being so prescriptive. 

The green belt policy would appear to be overly restrictive in the eastern part of the region (i.e. 

Monmouthshire) where sustainable growth should be welcomed to manage social issues such as 

population decline and to address inequalities in terms of access to affordable housing for 

younger people. Furthermore, this part of the region needs to respond to the effects of migration 

resulting from the impact of the removal of the Severn Bridge tolls particularly the economic 

opportunities associated with this – there is a significant opportunity for Monmouthshire to 

capitalise on economic links to the South West region and its strategic location between the Great 

Western Cities of Cardiff, Newport and Bristol, and to address the social sustainability of the 

County’s demography. 

A greenbelt is a permanent protective designation that should look to protect an area from 

development for a period of at least 50 years.  Designation of a greenbelt is a major long-term 

policy decision that should be based on robust evidence. Within a greenbelt, the only 

development permitted is essential accommodation for agricultural, forestry and rural enterprise 

workers, and essential outdoor recreation facilities.  Ironically, the draft NDF text requires that the 

greenbelt should be considered in relation to the greenbelt around Bristol, where emerging 

development plans are seeking to de-designate parts of the greenbelt because it has overly 

Pack Page 23



constrained growth.

Restricting growth in this part of the region in such a prescriptive way through the NDF 

undermines the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal which includes a growth strategy for the whole 

region and would act to hinder growth in an area of significant demand and potential. It also 

undermines the role of the SDP and pre-determines the growth strategy to follow which needs to 

be supported by robust evidence. 

Furthermore, there may be other parts of the region where a green belt is justified.  While the 

draft NDF does not outwardly dismiss the designation of a green belt elsewhere in the region, the 

exclusion of such a designation in the NDF when a green belt to the north of the M4 from the 

Severn Crossings to North Cardiff is explicitly required in the NDF, could predetermine any future 

consideration on this matter at a regional or local level.

12. Integrated Sustainability Appraisal

As part of the consultation process, an Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) was conducted to 

assess the social, economic and environmental impacts of a plan. The report identified a number of 

monitoring indicators, including health, equalities, Welsh language, the impact on rural 

communities, children’s rights, climate change and economic development.

• Do you have any comments on the findings of the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal Report? 

Please outline any further alternative monitoring indicators you consider would strengthen the ISA.

No comment.

13. Habitats Regulations Assessment

As part of the development of the NDF, a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) was undertaken. 

The purpose of the HRA process is to identify, assess and address any ‘significant effects’ of the plan 

on sites such as Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas for birds.

• Do you have any comments on the Habitats Regulations Assessment report?

No comment.

14. Welsh Language

Pack Page 24



We would like to know your views on the effects that the NDF would have on the Welsh language, 

specifically on opportunities for people to use Welsh and on treating the Welsh language no less 

favourably than English.

• What effects do you think there would be? How could positive effects be increased, or negative 

effects be mitigated?

No comment.

Please also explain how you believe the proposed NDF could be formulated or changed so as to 

have:

I. positive effects or increased positive effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language, and

II. no adverse effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on treating the 

Welsh language no less favourably than the English language.

15. Further comments

• Are there any further comments that you would like to make on the NDF, or any alternative 

proposals you feel we should consider?

The evidence and assumptions that have informed the NDF are not clear. Therefore the focus on 

existing town/city centres and urban areas may not be realistic or deliverable in the absence of 

urban capacity studies to support it. An over-reliance on growth within existing settlements could 

stifle growth within the “National Growth Areas” and undermine the delivery of the NDF and its 

outcomes. 

Furthermore, It is unrealistic to expect all new development to be on brownfield land.  Where 

brownfield sites are suitable and viable they should be prioritised, but the NDF implies greenfield 

development should be severely restricted. This strategy is unlikely to deliver the sustainable 

development needed to meet the needs of the future generations of Wales.

The Development Plan system is predicated upon an evidence base that demonstrates the 

viability and deliverability of its proposals.  There is no such evidence to support the NDF 

outcomes or to demonstrate they are deliverable.  The NDF is setting outcomes that SDPs and 

LDPs will need to conform to and prove through examination that they are deliverable, based on 

robust evidence.  This could lead to conflict in SDPs and LDPs that could seriously hamper 

development plan preparation and undermine the plan led system.

Pack Page 25



I remain to be convinced that the NDF Outcomes can be realistically achieved without additional 

resources being made available to deliver the individual priorities.  Will Welsh Government be 

providing additional resources to Local Planning Authorities who are tasked with implementing 

the NDF through SDPs and LDPs?

Alternative Proposals

The NDF should set out the framework of policy that the lower tiers of plans can build upon and 

provide increasing detail. The NDF needs to take a lead on significant issues, setting out the 

national approach to addressing the issues that have national significance.  However, the NDF as 

drafted does not include a number of significant elements that require a national lead in order for 

lower tier plans to provide the detail as follows:

• Congestion on the M4 and the costs to the Welsh economy. The recent decision 
by the Welsh Government to not progress the Second M4 means that the existing 
issues with the Brynglas Tunnels remain. The NDF makes no reference to 
addressing the M4 congestion and the consequential adverse impact on the 
economy of Wales. The NDF is proposing economic growth whilst remaining 
completely silent on the M4 which carries the majority of its freight and 
workforce. This is a significant omission for a spatial Development Plan for Wales 
for the next 20 years.

• A465 Heads of the Valleys Road. No reference is made to the contribution that 
this significant artery into Wales can have in delivering national and regional 
development.  The Valleys Taskforce has set out aspiration and proposals for the 
Heads of the Valleys area and key to delivering these is maximising the benefits of 
the investment that has been made by Welsh Government on this national artery.  
It is surprising that the NDF does not include specific policies on maximising the 
benefits of the improvements within this area.

• Freight is a significant contributor to climate change and the impacts of heavy 
goods vehicles on the road structure requires significant funding to maintain the 
damage done by lorries. The electrification of the railways provides the 
opportunity to set out ambitious modal shift targets for freight from road to rail, 
particularly where the freight is going to the ports or elsewhere on the mainline 
rail network. Freight is also a major contributor to the problems at Brynglas 
Tunnels and delays to freight movements are one of the main costs to the welsh 
economy and should be addressed in the NDF.

• Offshore wind generation or the potential for Tidal Lagoons to generate 
significant levels of renewable energy have not been recognised in the NDF. Both 
of these options have the potential to cause less damage in terms of landscape 
and ecological impact, whilst generating significant levels of renewable energy. 
The NDF purely concentrates on onshore wind and solar generation and district 
heating networks at the expense of a holistic policy approach to delivering 

Pack Page 26



renewable energy.  
• The NDF needs to clarify the role of ports in Wales. They are shown on the spatial 

strategy diagram and regional plans but there is no policy or explanation as to 
their current and future roles.

• Environmental issues like air quality and flood risk are given very little 
acknowledgement and consideration throughout the NDF. 

In addition to the significant omissions outlined above, the NDF provides no policy framework for 

a number of land uses, including retailing, recreation and leisure, minerals, tourism, and general 

infrastructure. Whilst it is acknowledged that there are a number of documents that sets out 

national strategies for some of these issues, the purpose of the NDF is to give a spatial context to 

issues of national importance to provide the spatial framework for the policy framework at lower 

tiers. Without this spatial context these issues remain open to interpretation at lower levels and 

may not end up delivering national objectives.

The NDF should include a monitoring framework in the same way as LDPs to assess its 

effectiveness and delivery against its objectives. At this stage this would provide an opportunity to 

consider how realistic or achievable some of the NDF’s policies and proposals are.

Overall the significant omissions from the NDF and the failure of the NDF to provide a spatial 

strategy for development in Wales undermines its credibility and raises significant concerns over 

whether the document is fit for its purpose. In summary, the NDF is a missed opportunity.

Are you...?

Providing your own personal response X

Submitting a response on behalf of an organisation

  

Responses to the consultation will be shared with the National Assembly for 
Wales and are likely to be made public, on the internet or in a report.  If you 
would prefer your response to remain anonymous, please tick here

Pack Page 27



Mike Hedges AM
Chair of Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee

14 October 2019

Dear Mike,

Financial implications of the Wild Animals and Circuses (Wales) Bill

The Finance Committee considered the financial implications of the Wild Animals 
and Circuses (Wales) Bill (the Bill) on 3 October 2019 and took evidence from the 
Minister for Environment, Energy and Rural Affairs (the Minister). 

Given that the financial implications of the Bill are relatively small, the Finance 
Committee felt it would be more appropriate to write to you as Chair of the lead 
Committee responsible for scrutinising the Bill to share our considerations and 
recommendations. 

Evidence and Committee view

The estimated financial costs and benefits of the Bill are set out in the Regulatory 
Impact Assessment (RIA) as part of the Explanatory Memorandum.1

Whilst there are no travelling circuses with wild animals based in Wales, they do 
visit and therefore the RIA states “there will be a small implementation cost to the 
Welsh Government” estimated at £6,000. This includes preparing bilingual 
guidance, engaging with stakeholders and communicating to affected 
businesses. 

As a result of the Bill, the RIA expects Welsh Government responding to 
correspondence on the use of wild animals in circuses to “reduce significantly” 
with an estimated cost saving of £9,500 over five years. Thus giving a potential 
overall net cost saving of £3,500 by 2025.

1 Wild Animals and Circuses (Wales) Bill, Explanatory Memorandum incorporating the Regulatory 
Impact Assessment and Explanatory Notes, July 2019

Pack Page 28

Agenda Item 4.1

https://record.assembly.wales/Committee/5772


The Minister said that, having consulted with a range of stakeholders and 
considered the published data from Scotland (where the ban was introduced in 
May 2018) and England (where the ban will come into force in January 2020), the 
Welsh Government was confident that the estimated costs and benefits were 
“accurate to the best of our ability”.2 

With regards to the potential impact on local authorities and circuses, the Minister 
said there was a “high degree of uncertainty” and that the financial costs were 
“unknown”.3 

During an evidence session of your Committee on 2 October 2019, witnesses from 
the travelling circus community acknowledged the Bill was likely to have financial 
implications for them but they were unable to quantify what the costs might be. 
Thomas Chipperfield, an animal trainer said:

“the opportunity for economic growth, in terms of my business, would be reduced 
drastically, because of the consistent nature of circus work, as opposed to the 
contractual basis that other activities operate on. That, I think, is the fundamental 
difference, so that the lack of opportunity to engage in regular work in that way 
would have a significantly negative impact on my business in that fashion.”4

The RIA states that “enforcement of the Bill would not constitute additional costs 
for Local Authorities as it could be conducted alongside existing enforcement 
activities”.

On this issue, the Minister said there would be “minimal impact” on local 
authorities given that they would not be expected to conduct any additional 
inspections as a result of the Bill.

Conclusion

The Finance Committee is satisfied that the financial costs and benefits as set out 
in the Regulatory Impact Assessment are reasonable and appropriate. However, 
the Committee is mindful of the unquantified costs for local authorities and 
circuses that have not been identified. The Committee would have expected a 
best estimate to be included in the Regulatory Impact Assessment.

I would be grateful if you could include the Finance Committee’s view as part of 
your Stage 1 report on the Bill.

2 Finance Committee, Record of Proceedings, 3 October 2019, paragraph 13
3 Finance Committee, Record of Proceedings, 3 October 2019, paragraph 13
4 Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee, Record of proceedings, 2 October 
2019, paragraph 348

Pack Page 29

https://record.assembly.wales/Committee/5700


Yours sincerely,

Llyr Gruffydd AM, Chair of the Finance Committee

Pack Page 30



 
13 October 2019 
 
Elizabeth Wilkinson 
Second Clerk 
Climate Change, Environment and Rural Affairs Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
 
 
Dear Ms Wilkinson 
 
The welfare of wild animals in travelling circuses 
 
Two colleagues and I were commissioned by the National Assembly for Wales to 
review the scientific evidence on the welfare of wild animals in travelling circuses. 
We read and reviewed some 1500 scientific papers, theses and reports, as well as 
talking to experts and analysing the opinions of experts from across the world. Our 
report is the most comprehensive scientific investigation into the issue to date. 
 
Following best practice, the process we used to find and identify the relevant 
literature is fully explained in the report. Prior to publication, our report was refereed 
by three international experts, all of whom were complimentary about the quality and 
extent of our investigation. None of these three experts suggested that there was 
bias, misrepresentation or manipulation of data. 
 
Following publication of our report in April 2016, the University of Bristol received a 
complaint from the circus industry alleging bias and misrepresentation of research. 
The University set up an independent inquiry to investigate the complaint. On 26 
January 2017 the University of Bristol’s Director of Legal Services notified me that 
the experts appointed to undertake the inquiry had rejected the complaint outright 
and the University’s file had been closed.  
 
I was surprised therefore to see the following comments made by Giulia Corsini on 2 
October 2019 during her visit to the National Assembly for Wales:- 
 

Professor Stephen Harris 
 

Pack Page 31

Agenda Item 4.2



 
[Translation: “Giulia Corsini is here: Cardiff with Thomas Chipperfield. At the Welsh Government to 
talk about the manipulation of the studies on animals made by Stephen Harris”] 

 
It is to be regretted that the circus industry continues to repeat these allegations 
nearly three years after an independent inquiry instigated by the University of Bristol 
found their complaints to be groundless. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 

Pack Page 32



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 33

Agenda Item 4.3By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 34

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Draft National Development Framework 2020-2040 - evidence session 1
	Paper - Royal Town Planning Institute Cymru
	The Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) is the largest professional institute for planners in Europe, representing some 25,000 spatial planners. RTPI Cymru represents the RTPI in Wales, with 1,100 members. The Institute seeks to advance the science a...

	Paper - Cardiff University

	3 Draft National Development Framework - evidence session 2
	4.1 Correspondence from the Chair of the Finance Committee on the financial implications of the Wild Animals and Circuses (Wales) Bill
	4.2 Correspondence from Professor Stephen Harris - Wild Animals and Circuses (Wales) Bill
	4.3 Correspondence between the Chair and Thomas Chipperfield - Wild Animals and Circuses (Wales) Bill
	Letter from the Chair to Thomas Chipperfield


